

ORDINANCE NO. O2016.61

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPE, ARIZONA, AMENDING CHAPTER 26A, ARTICLE I, TEMPE CITY CODE, RELATING TO PROCUREMENT, BY AMENDING SECTION 26A-1, RELATING TO GENERAL PROCUREMENT APPLICABILITY; SECTION 26A-2, RELATING TO CHAPTER DEFINITIONS, UNLESS THE CONTEXT OTHERWISE REQUIRES; SECTION 26A-3, RELATING TO AUTHORITY OF THE PROCUREMENT ADMINISTRATOR; SECTION 26A-4, RELATING TO PROCUREMENT PROCEDURES BY DOLLAR VALUE; SECTION 26A-5, RELATING TO PROCUREMENT AUTHORIZATION LEVELS; SECTION 26A-6, RELATING TO COMPETITIVE SEALED BIDDING; SECTION 26A-8, RELATING TO COMPETITIVE SEALED PROPOSALS; SECTION 26A-9, RELATING TO CONTRACTING FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES; SECTION 26A-10, RELATING TO SELECTION PROCEDURE FOR LEGAL COUNSEL; SECTION 26A-11, RELATING TO SMALL PURCHASES; SECTION 26A-13.1, RELATING TO REVERSE AUCTION BIDDING; SECTION 26A-15, RELATING TO REJECTION OF BIDS OR PROPOSALS AFTER OPENING; SECTION 26A-16, RELATING TO RESPONSIBILITY OF BIDDERS AND OFFERORS; SECTION 26A-17, RELATING TO TYPES OF CONTRACTS; SECTION 26A-18, RELATING TO SPECIFICATIONS; SECTION 26A-19, RELATING TO CONTRACT CLAUSES; SECTION 26A-21, RELATING TO PROTEST PROCEDURE; AND SECTION 26A-22, RELATING TO RESOLUTION OF CONTRACT CLAIMS AND CONTROVERSIES; AND BY AMENDING ARTICLE II, RELATING TO MATERIALS MANAGEMENT, BY AMENDING SECTION 26A-50, RELATING TO MATERIALS MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITIES AND POWERS, AUCTIONS, OFFENSES; SECTION 26A-51, RELATING TO DISPOSITION OF SURPLUS OR EXCESS MATERIALS GENERALLY; AND SECTION 26A-52, RELATING TO AND METHODS OF DISPOSAL FOR SURPLUS OR EXCESS.

WHEREAS, a comprehensive review of the City Procurement Code has resulted in a number of changes that improves understanding, increases efficiencies, and improves alignment with the State of Arizona Procurement Code; and,

WHEREAS, deleted City Code text is shown in ~~striketrough~~ and added text is shown in CAPITAL LETTERS;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPE, ARIZONA, as follows:

Section 1. That Chapter 26A, Article I, Section 26A-1, of the Tempe City Code is hereby amended to read as follows:

Sec. 26A-1. General procurement applicability.

(a) Except as otherwise provided, this chapter applies to all expenditures of public monies irrespective of their source, including federal assistance monies to this city, for the purchase of materials, goods and services, under any contract, except that this chapter does not apply to either grants, or contracts between the city and other governments. Nothing in this chapter shall prevent the city from complying with the terms and conditions of any grant, gift, bequest or cooperative agreement.

(b) The provisions of this chapter are not applicable to the following types of procurements that by their nature are not applicable to the competitive process and therefore exempt from the procurement code. However, any procurements at or in excess of ~~fifty~~ ONE HUNDRED thousand dollars (~~\$50,000~~) (\$100,000) require formal council approval.

- (1) Professional witnesses if the purpose of such contracts is to provide for professional services or testimony relating to an existing or probable judicial proceeding in which the city is or may become a party or to contracts for special investigative services for law enforcement purposes;
- (2) Agreements negotiated by the city attorney or risk manager in settlement of a claim or litigation or threatened litigation are exempt from the provisions of this chapter;
- (3) Worker's compensation payments for medical and related expenses;
- (4) Works of fine art which are not physically a part of functional construction features, and performing art entertainment;
- (5) The purchase of miscellaneous books, magazines, newspapers, subscriptions, on-line library reference services, film, videos and assorted materials for library customer check-out purposes for which contracts by competitive bid solicitation is not practicable. Does not include major book provider contracts which are competitively bid;
- (6) Intergovernmental payments, purchases and agreements;
- (7) Public utility purchases of water, power and related services;
- (8) Specialized seminar, training and educational classes;
- (9) Magazine and media advertisement;
- (10) Financial advisory and investment broker/dealer and related services;
- (11) Election services;
- (12) Council initiated contracts;

(13) Memberships in organizations; or

(14) Political lobbyist services.

(c) The determination of procurements considered exempt shall be made by the procurement administrator.

(d) The provisions of this chapter are not applicable to the types of procurement described in this paragraph. However, any procurements at or in excess of ~~fifty~~ ONE HUNDRED thousand dollars ~~(\$50,000)~~ (\$100,000) require formal council approval. Procurement of architect services, construction, construction services, construction-manager-at-risk construction services, design-build construction services, engineer services, job-order-contracting construction services, landscape architect services, assayer services, geologist services, and land surveying services shall comply with Title 34 of the Arizona Revised Statutes. These provisions will also be utilized for the following services: construction program management, construction management, feasibility studies, materials testing, mapping, related data collection and analysis, infrastructure system analysis or other related services. The public works department, engineering division shall act as the city procurement agency and administrator for the above listed services.

Section 2. That Chapter 26A, Article I, Section 26A-2, of the Tempe City Code is hereby amended to read as follows:

Sec. 26A-2. Chapter definitions, unless the context otherwise requires.

Adequate evidence means more than mere accusation but less than substantial evidence. Consideration shall be given to the amount of credible information available, reasonableness in view of surrounding circumstances, corroboration and other inferences that may be drawn from the existence or absence of affirmative facts.

Administrative directive means the document issued by the city manager to establish administrative policy and procedures for city departments and employees.

Affiliate means any person whose governing instruments require it to be bound by the decision of another person or whose governing board includes enough voting representatives of the other person to cause or prevent action, whether or not the power is exercised. It may also include persons doing business under a variety of names, or where there is a parent-subsidiary relationship between persons.

Assignment of rights and duties means the rights and duties of a city contract are not transferable or otherwise assignable without the written consent of the procurement office.

Authorized formal contract signer means the mayor or procurement administrator, as appropriate under the city charter and city code, once the contract has been reviewed and

approved by the city procurement office, city risk management and the city attorney's office and awarded by the city council, if necessary.

Award means a determination by the city that it is entering into a contract with one or more offerors.

Bid means an offer in response to a solicitation.

Bidder means "offeror" who is a person who responds to a solicitation.

Brand name or equal specification means a written description that uses one or more manufacturers' product name or catalog item to describe the standard of quality, performance and other characteristics that meet city requirements and provides for submission of equivalent products or services. BY CALLING OUT A BRAND NAME AND MODEL NUMBER, THE FULL SCOPE OF THE PRODUCTS' SPECIFICATIONS IS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE TO THAT BRAND.

Brand name specification means a written description limited to a list of one or more items by manufacturers' product name or catalog item to describe the standard of quality, performance and other characteristics that meet city requirements.

Business means any corporation, partnership, individual, sole proprietorship, joint stock company, joint venture or any other private legal entity.

~~*Central services administrator* means the person designated by the Internal Services Director to administer the activities of the city procurement office, including the duplicating and mail center and surplus property.~~

Change order means a written order signed by the procurement administrator or the mayor, as necessary, who directs the contractor to make changes that are authorized by the original city solicitation and any resulting contract.

City means the municipal corporation now existing and known as the City of Tempe.

Confidential information means that if a person believes that a bid, proposal, offer, specification or protest contains information that should be withheld, a statement advising the procurement officer of this fact shall accompany the submission and the information shall be so identified wherever it appears. THE INFORMATION SO DESIGNATED MUST BE SPECIFICALLY IDENTIFIED. A BLANKET REFERENCE TO "CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION" APPEARING ON EVERY PAGE OF THE BID DOCUMENT OR A ONE-TIME REFERENCE THAT THE ENTIRE PROPOSAL IS TO BE CONSIDERED CONFIDENTIAL IS NOT SUFFICIENT AND WILL NOT BE TREATED AS CONFIDENTIAL. THERE MUST BE SPECIFIC REFERENCE TO WHAT PARTICULAR PORTION(S) OF THE SUBMITTAL IS TO BE TREATED AS CONFIDENTIAL. The information identified by the person as confidential shall not be disclosed until the procurement officer makes a written determination. The procurement officer shall review the statement and

information and shall determine in writing whether the information shall be withheld. Such determination statement may be reviewed by the city attorney's office and shall be approved by the procurement administrator; and if the procurement officer determines to disclose the information, the procurement officer shall inform the person in writing of such determination.

Construction means the process of building, altering, repairing, improving or demolishing any public structure or building, or other public improvements of any kind to any public real property. Construction does not include the routine operation, routine repair or routine maintenance of existing structures, buildings or real property. Procurement responsibility for construction and related architectural and engineering services are delegated to the director directing the activities of the public works department and set apart from the procurement of goods and services.

Contract means all types of city agreements, regardless of what they may be called, for the procurement of goods and services.

Contract administrator means any person authorized to manage, supervise, and monitor compliance with the requirements of a contract.

Contract amendment means a written modification of a contract or a unilateral exercise of a right contained in the contract.

Contract value means the dollar value or estimated dollar value of single-requirement procurement or for the initial period of a term contract. IF RENEWAL OPTIONS ARE EXERCISED THEN CONTRACT VALUE MEANS THE DOLLAR VALUE OR ESTIMATED DOLLAR VALUE FOR THE SPECIFIC RENEWAL TERM EXECUTED.

Contractor means any person who has a contract with the city.

Cooperative procurement means procurement conducted by, or on behalf of, more than one eligible public procurement unit.

Cost-plus-a-percentage-of-cost contract means the parties to a contract agree that the fee will be a predetermined percentage of the cost of work performed and the contract does not limit the cost and fee before authorization of performance.

Cost-reimbursement contract means a contract under which a contractor is reimbursed for costs which are reasonable, allowable and allocable in accordance with the contract terms and the provisions of this chapter, and a fee, if provided for in the contract.

Days means calendar days unless otherwise specified as business days and shall be computed pursuant to A.R.S. § 1-243.

Debarment means the disqualification of a vendor to receive bid solicitations or the award of a contract by the city for a specified period of time, not to exceed three (3) years,

commensurate with the seriousness of the offense resulting from conduct, failure or inadequacy of contract performance or causing harassment to the award or performance of a city contract.

Descriptive literature means information available in the ordinary course of business that shows the TECHNICAL characteristics, construction or operation of an item or service offered and is sufficient in detail to allow for the full evaluation of a product.

Designee means a duly authorized representative of a responsible party.

Director means a person directing the activities of a city department.

Discussions mean negotiations.

Eligible procurement unit means a public procurement unit ~~or~~, a nonprofit educational or public health institution, OR FOR PROFIT ENTITY which follows a procurement process comparable to the process set forth in this code.

Emergency procurement means the procurement of goods, materials, supplies or services which are required to remedy a situation where the health, safety, welfare or quality of welfare of the public or public property is endangered or severely reduced if immediate corrective or preventive action is not taken.

Evaluation committee means a selected group of people representing the city in evaluating bid, proposal or qualifications responses for the purpose of making a contract award; and whose responsibility is to make fair and impartial decisions. An evaluation committee may consist of one or more qualified individuals.

Filed means delivery to the procurement officer or to the procurement administrator, whichever is applicable. A time/date stamp affixed to a document by the ~~office of the procurement officer or the procurement administrator~~, PROCUREMENT OFFICE, OR SIMILAR ELECTRONIC TIME STAMP WHICH VERIFIES THE RECEIPT OF AN ON-LINE SUBMISSION whichever is applicable, shall be determinative of the time of delivery for purposes of filing.

~~*Internal Services Director* means the person responsible for directing the activities of the city's internal services department.~~

Formal contract means a written (STAND ALONE) contract resulting from a formal solicitation issued by the city procurement office and, if necessary, has been formally approved and awarded by city council.

Governing instruments means those legal documents that establish the existence of an organization and define its powers including articles of incorporation or association, constitution, charter and by-laws.

Grant means the furnishings by the city of assistance, whether financial or otherwise, to any person to support a program authorized by law. Grant does not include an agreement whose primary purpose is to procure a specific end product, whether in the form of goods, materials, supplies or services. A contract resulting from such an agreement is not a grant but a procurement contract.

Gratuities means gifts, services or money offered or given to any officer or employee of the city or to any of their family members with a view toward securing an unfair advantage of obtaining an order or favorable treatment with respect to an award or contract.

Interested party means an actual or prospective bidder or offeror whose economic interest may be affected substantially and directly by the issuance of a solicitation, the award of a contract or by the failure to award a contract. Whether an actual or prospective bidder or offeror has an economic interest will depend upon the circumstances of each case.

INTERNAL SERVICES DIRECTOR MEANS THE PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR DIRECTING THE ACTIVITIES OF THE CITY'S INTERNAL SERVICES DEPARTMENT.

INTERNAL SERVICES DIRECTOR DESIGNEE MEANS THE DEPUTY INTERNAL SERVICES DIRECTOR FOR FINANCE OR THE PROCUREMENT ADMINISTRATOR.

Invitation for bid means all documents, whether attached or incorporated by reference, which are used for soliciting bids.

Late bid means a bid or proposal response that is received (HARD COPY OR ELECTRONICALLY – WHICHEVER DELIVERY METHOD APPLIES) by the city procurement office after the due date and time stated in the city's solicitation document or as may be modified by any supplemental addendum; and such late bids or proposals shall be rejected and not considered.

Legal counsel means a person licensed as an attorney pursuant to rules of the Supreme Court, Title 17A, Arizona Revised Statutes.

Materials means all personal property, including, but not limited to, equipment, supplies, printing, insurance and leases of personal property but does not include purchase of land, acquiring a permanent interest in land or real property or leasing land or real property.

May denotes the permissive.

Minor informality means a mistake, excluding judgmental errors, that have negligible material effect on price, quantity, delivery or contractual terms and waiver or correction of such mistake does not prejudice other bidders or offerors.

Model procurement code means the comprehensive plan or "model" for the fundamental principles of public procurement as developed by the American Bar Association, Section of Urban, State and Local Government Law.

Multi-step sealed bidding means a two-phase process consisting of a technical first phase composed of one or more steps in which bidders submit unpriced technical offers to be evaluated by the city and a second phase in which those bidders whose technical offers are determined to be acceptable during the first phase have their price bids considered.

Multiple award means an award of an indefinite quantity contract for one or more similar materials or services to more than one bidder or offeror.

Must means something is mandatory.

Negotiation means an exchange or series of exchanges between the city and an offeror or contractor that allows the city, the offeror or contractor to revise an offer or contract, unless revision is specifically prohibited by this chapter or statutes.

Newspaper means a publication regularly issued for dissemination of news of a general and public character at stated short intervals of time. Such publication shall be from a known office of publication and shall bear dates of issue and be numbered consecutively. It shall not be designed primarily for advertising, free circulation or circulation at nominal rates, but shall have a bona fide list of paying subscribers.

Nonprofit educational or public health institution means any educational or public health institution, no part of the income of which is distributable to its members, directors or officers.

Offer means a response to a solicitation.

Offeror means a person that responds to a solicitation.

Person means any corporation, business, individual, union, committee, club, other organization or group of individuals.

Price analysis means the evaluation of price data.

Price data means information concerning prices, including profit and overhead, for goods, materials and services substantially similar to those being procured under a contract or subcontract. In this definition, "prices" refers to offered or proposed selling prices, historical selling prices or current selling prices of the items being procured.

Procurement means buying, purchasing, renting, leasing or otherwise acquiring any materials, supplies or services. Procurement also includes all functions that pertain to the obtaining of any material or service, including description of requirements, selection and solicitation of sources, preparation and award of contract, and all phases of contract administration.

Procurement administrator means ~~the central services administrator.~~ PERSON DESIGNATED BY THE INTERNAL SERVICES DEPARTMENT DIRECTOR TO

ADMINISTER THE ACTIVITIES OF THE CITY PROCUREMENT OFFICE, INCLUDING SURPLUS PROPERTY.

Procurement officer means any buyer, duly authorized to enter into and administer contracts and make written determinations with respect to city contracts; and includes an authorized representative acting within the limits of the officer's authority.

Professional services means those services requiring specialized knowledge, education or skill and where the qualifications of the person(s) rendering the services are of primary importance. Professional services shall include but not be limited to appraisers, land surveyors, DEVELOPERS, attorneys, architects, engineers, psychologists, physicians, health practitioners, auditors, systems and software analysts and professional consultants.

Proposal means an offer submitted in response to a solicitation.

Prospective offeror means a person that expresses an interest in a specific solicitation.

Public procurement unit means a political subdivision, the city, the State of Arizona or an agency of the United States.

Purchase requisition means that document, or electronic transmission, whereby a department requests that a contract be entered into for a specific need, and may include, but is not limited to, the description of the requested item, estimated cost, delivery schedule, transportation data, criteria for evaluation, and suggested sources of supply.

Qualified products list means an approved list of materials, goods or services described by model or catalogue numbers, that, prior to competitive solicitation, the city has determined will meet the applicable specification requirements.

Qualified providers list means a list of service firms which have been pre-qualified to provide a service in a specific field. Such list may be established by a competitive sealed proposals or request for qualifications.

Requirement of good faith means that all parties involved in the negotiation, performance or administration of city contracts are required to act in good faith.

Request for proposals means all documents whether attached or incorporated by reference, which are used for soliciting proposals in accordance with procedures prescribed within this chapter.

Request for qualifications means a request by the city for detailed information concerning the qualifications of firms to provide professional services.

Responsible bidder or offeror means a person who has the capability to perform the contract requirements and the integrity and reliability which will assure good faith performance.

Responsive bidder or offeror means a person who submits a bid which conforms in all material respects to the invitation for bids or request for proposals.

Services mean the furnishing of labor, time or effort by a contractor or subcontractor which does not involve the delivery of a specific end product other than required reports and performance. Services shall include but not be limited to repair and maintenance, trades and crafts work, clerical and machine operating functions, concession operations, food catering, etc.

Shall means something is mandatory.

Single requirement procurement means the purchase, lease, or rental of materials or services without a known pattern of recurring need by the city.

Solicitation means an invitation for bids, a request for technical offers, a request for proposals, a request for quotations, a request for qualifications or any other invitation or request by which the city invites a person to participate in a procurement process.

Spot market means a short lived market where specific materials are subject to limited purchase availability; or where a significantly reduced price offer requires the material's immediate procurement to secure and obtain the item.

Subcontractor means a person who contracts to perform work or render services to a contractor or to another subcontractor as a part of a contract with the city.

Substantial evidence means such relevant evidence as a reasonable person might accept as sufficient to support a particular conclusion.

Supplementary general principles of law means that unless displaced by the particular provisions of this chapter, the principles of law and equity, including the uniform commercial code of this state, the common law of contracts as applied in this state and law relative to agency, fraud, misrepresentation, duress, coercion and mistake are applicable and supplement the provisions of this chapter.

Suspension means an action taken by the Internal Services Director temporarily disqualifying a person from participating in city procurements.

Technical offer means unpriced written information from a prospective contractor stating the manner in which the prospective contractor intends to perform certain work, its qualifications, and its terms and conditions.

Term contract means a contract for the supply of materials or services for a specified period of time as stated within the solicitation document and has provisions for contract cancellation, and for additional contract renewal periods BEYOND THE INITIAL TERM CONTRACT PERIOD.

Term contract administration means the monitoring of term contracts to ensure compliance with the city's contract award and any term contract exceeding its estimated value shall be resubmitted for review and approval by city council.

Vendor means a person or firm in the business of selling or otherwise providing products, materials or services.

Void contract means a contract that contains unlawful language or a contract that conflicts with the requirements of the city's solicitation.

Section 3. That Chapter 26A, Article I, Section 26A-3, of the Tempe City Code is hereby amended to read as follows:

Sec. 26A-3. Authority of the procurement administrator.

(a) Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, the procurement administrator, under the direction of the Internal Services Director, may adopt operational procedures, consistent with this chapter, governing the procurement and management of all materials and services to be procured by the city and the disposal of materials.

(b) Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, the procurement administrator shall:

- (1) Supervise and administer the procurement of all materials and services required by the city in general conformity to procurement practices promoted by the ABA Model Procurement Code;
- (2) Establish rules and regulations for the procurement of all materials and services for the city;
- (3) Establish rules and regulations for the sale, trade, transfer or disposal of surplus materials belonging to the city; and
- (4) Prepare, issue, revise, maintain and monitor the use of specifications for materials and services required by the city.

(c) Written determinations required by this chapter shall be retained in the appropriate official CONTRACT file of the procurement office.

Section 4. That Chapter 26A, Article I, Section 26A-4, of the Tempe City Code is hereby amended to read as follows:

Sec. 26A-4. Procurement procedures by dollar value.

(a) ~~*Small Purchases*~~ **PURCHASES under \$5,000.** The single requirement procurement of materials and services, of less than five thousand dollars (\$5,000) DO NOT REQUIRE

COMPETITIVE QUOTES AND shall be made in accord with those rules and regulations set forth and published by the city procurement administrator.

(b) ~~Small Purchases~~ PURCHASES BETWEEN \$5,000 ~~to~~ AND ~~\$49,999~~ \$99,999. The single requirement or ~~term contract~~ THE CONTRACT VALUE OF A TERM CONTRACT FOR THE procurement of materials and services, of less than ~~fifty~~ ONE HUNDRED thousand dollars (~~\$50,000~~) (\$100,000) and greater than or equal to five thousand dollars (\$5,000) shall be made in accord with § 26A-11(b).

(c) ~~Formal procurements~~ \$50,000 \$100,000 and over. Materials, goods and services, except as otherwise provided herein, when the single requirement or estimated ~~value during an initial term contract period~~ CONTRACT VALUE OF A TERM CONTRACT shall be equal TO or exceeding ~~fifty~~ ONE HUNDRED thousand dollars (~~\$50,000~~) (\$100,000) shall be procured by formal, written solicitation.

Section 5. That Chapter 26A, Article I, Section 26A-5, of the Tempe City Code is hereby amended to read as follows:

Sec. 26A-5. Procurement authorization levels.

(a) The procurement administrator shall have the authority to approve and sign, if necessary, procurements up to and including ~~forty-nine~~ NINETY-NINE thousand nine hundred ninety-nine dollars (~~\$49,999~~) (\$99,999). THE PROCUREMENT ADMINISTRATOR MAY DELEGATE AUTHORITY TO APPROVE AND SIGN CONTRACTS THAT ARE VALUED AT OR BELOW fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000) TO CITY PROCUREMENT OFFICERS.

(B) THE CITY COUNCIL SHALL AWARD CONTRACTS WITH A VALUE EQUAL TO OR EXCEEDING ONE HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS (\$100,000).

(b)(C) Except for formal contracts requiring the signature of the mayor, the Internal Services Director or designee shall have the authority to enter into city council approved procurements equal to or exceeding ~~fifty~~ ONE HUNDRED thousand dollars (~~\$50,000~~) (\$100,000).

~~(c) The city council shall award contracts with a value equal to or exceeding fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000).~~

(d) During those months when the city council meets only once, the city manager or ~~designee~~ INTERNAL SERVICES DIRECTOR shall have the authority to award and sign contracts exceeding ~~fifty~~ ONE HUNDRED thousand dollars (~~\$50,000~~) (\$100,000). Any award action taken shall be presented for ratification at the next regularly scheduled city council meeting.

Section 6. That Chapter 26A, Article I, Section 26A-6, of the Tempe City Code is hereby amended to read as follows:

Sec. 26A-6. Competitive sealed bidding.

(a) *Conditions for use.* ~~All contracts~~ CONTRACTS of the city ~~shall~~ MAY be awarded by competitive sealed bidding except as otherwise provided in this chapter.

(b) *Invitation for bids.* An invitation for bids shall be issued and shall include specifications, and all contractual terms and conditions applicable to the procurement.

(c) *Public notice.* The procurement office shall develop and maintain a method for providing adequate notice of public bid solicitations, which shall identify the place, date and time of bid opening. Notice of the bid solicitation shall be posted for public inspection ON THE CITY'S INTERNET WEB SITE and a copy of the bid solicitation shall be available for public inspection review in the procurement office. If the solicitation is for services other than those described in A.R.S. §§ 41-2513 and 41-2578, the notice shall include publication one or more times in a single newspaper within this state. The publication shall be not less than two (2) weeks before solicitation opening and shall be circulated within the city. Bids shall be opened no earlier than two (2) weeks from date of issue. A shorter time period may be established when unique circumstances deem it appropriate. A written determination shall be signed by the procurement officer and the procurement administrator citing the reasons why a shorter time frame is necessary.

(d) *Solicitation amendment.* If a solicitation is changed by a solicitation amendment, the procurement officer shall notify suppliers to whom the procurement officer distributed the solicitation. It is the responsibility of the offeror to obtain any solicitation amendments. An offeror shall acknowledge receipt of an amendment in the manner specified in the solicitation or solicitation amendment on or before the offer due date and time. A procurement officer shall issue a solicitation amendment to do any or all of the following:

- (1) Make changes in the solicitation;
- (2) Correct defects or ambiguities;
- (3) Provide additional information or instructions; or
- (4) Extend the offer due date and time, if the procurement officer determines that an extension is in the best interest of the city.

(e) *Late bids.* A bid, modification or withdrawal is late if it is received at the location designated in the invitation for bids after the time and date set for bid opening. A late bid, modification or withdrawal shall be rejected unless the bid, modification or withdrawal would have been timely received but for the action or inaction of ~~central services~~ PROCUREMENT personnel and is received before contract award. A late bid shall not be opened, except (if

necessary), for identification purposes. Delivery and return of late bids shall be handled in the following manner:

- (1) If hand delivered, a late bid shall be time and date stamped, refused and returned to the bidder with a late bid notice placed in the bid file. A copy of the front envelope or box cover showing the time and date stamp shall be made and retained in the procurement file;
- (2) If delivered by mail or electronically delivered (~~provided this delivery method has been approved~~), the bid shall be time and date stamped and filed unopened within the procurement file OR E-FILE for thirty (30) days. The procurement administrator may discard the document ~~within~~ thirty (30) days after the recorded date unless the ~~offeror~~ BIDDER requests the document be returned;
- (3) A late bid notice shall be mailed or electronically sent to the late bidder; and
- (4) The procurement office shall determine the method for bid issuance and for acceptable response delivery and so state in the invitation for bids document.

(f) *Bid opening.* Bids shall be opened publicly in the presence of one or more witnesses at the time and place designated in the invitation for bids. IF THE BIDS HAVE BEEN FILED ON-LINE IN AN ELECTRONIC FORMAT THEN THE OPENING WILL BE EFFECTIVE UPON THE OPENING DATE AND TIME SPECIFIED. The amount of each bid, and such other relevant information as the procurement administrator deems appropriate, together with the name of each bidder shall be recorded. This record shall be open to public inspection. The bids shall not be opened for public inspection until after a contract is awarded. After contract award, the bids shall be available for public inspection, except to the extent that the withholding of information is permitted or required by law. If the bidder designates a portion of its bid as confidential, it shall isolate and identify in writing the confidential portions in accordance with procedures set forth in this chapter, but the city remains subject to the Arizona public records law requirements. Prior to the scheduled opening, the procurement department may open an unidentified offer to identify the SOLICITATION NUMBER AND offeror. If this occurs, the staff member shall record the reason for opening the offer, the date and time the offer was opened, and the solicitation number. The offer shall be secured and retained for public opening.

(g) *Bid acceptance and bid evaluation.* Bids shall be unconditionally accepted without alteration ~~or~~, correction, OR AMENDMENT except as authorized in this chapter. Bids shall be evaluated based on the requirements set forth in the invitations for bids. No criteria may be used in THE bid ~~evaluation that are~~ EVALUATION THAT IS not set forth in the invitation for bids.

(h) *Correction or withdrawal of bids prior to award.* Correction or withdrawal of inadvertently erroneous bids before or after bid opening may be permitted where appropriate. Mistakes discovered before bid opening may be modified or withdrawn by written notice received in the procurement office prior to the time set for bid opening. After bid opening corrections in bids shall be permitted only to the extent that the bidder can show by clear and convincing evidence that a mistake of a non-judgmental character was made and that the mistake

and the intended offer are evident in the uncorrected offer; for example, an error in the extension of unit prices. After bid opening, no changes in bid prices or other provisions of bids prejudicial to the interest of the city or fair competition shall be permitted. All decisions to permit the correction or withdrawal of bids shall be supported by a written determination made by the procurement officer and approved by the procurement administrator. In lieu of bid correction, a low bidder alleging a material mistake of fact may be permitted to withdraw its bid if:

- (1) The mistake is clearly evident on the face of the bid document but the intended correct bid is not similarly evident; or
- (2) The bidder submits evidence which clearly and convincingly demonstrates that a mistake was made.

(i) *Mistakes discovered after award - contractor responsibility.* If a mistake in the offer is discovered after the award, the offeror may request withdrawal or correction in writing and shall include all of the following in the written request:

- (1) Explanation of the mistake and any other relevant information;
- (2) A request for correction including the corrected offer or a request for withdrawal; and
- (3) The reasons why correction or withdrawal is consistent with fair competition and in the best interest of the city.

(j) *Mistakes discovered after award – city’s responsibility.* Based on the considerations of fair competition and the best interest of the city, the procurement administrator may:

- (1) Allow correction of the mistake, if the resulting dollar amount of the correction is less than the next lowest offer;
- (2) Cancel all or part of the award; or
- (3) Deny correction or withdrawal.

(k) *Mistakes discovered after award – re-award option.* After cancellation of all or part of an award, if the offer acceptance period has not expired, the procurement administrator may award all or part of the contract to the next lowest responsible and responsive offeror, based on the considerations of fair competition and the best interest of the city. Any decision that allows for the correction of a mistake or the cancellation of a contract shall be supported by a written determination made by the procurement officer and approved by the procurement administrator.

(l) *Extension of offer acceptance period.* To extend the offer acceptance period, a procurement officer shall notify offerors in writing of an extension and request written concurrence from all offerors. To be eligible for a contract award, an offeror shall submit written concurrence to the extension. The procurement officer shall not consider the offer from an offeror who fails to respond to the notice of extension.

(m) *Contract award.* The contract shall be awarded ~~by the city council~~ IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 26A-5 on the recommendation of the procurement administrator with appropriate written notice to the lowest responsible and responsive bidder whose bid conforms in all material respects to requirements and criteria set forth in the invitation for bids:

- (1) In evaluating the bids, and for purposes of determining the low bidder, the procurement office shall include the amount of applicable business privilege tax FOR ALL OFFERORS, except that the amount of city OF TEMPE business privilege tax shall not be included in the evaluation. Tempe privilege tax that is to be paid (returned) to the city shall be considered as a pass-through cost and calculated as zero expense to the city for evaluation purposes. IN THE EVENT AN OFFER IS RECEIVED FROM AN OUT OF STATE VENDOR WHO DOES NOT POSSESS AN ARIZONA TRANSACTION PRIVILEGE TAX LICENSE THEN FOR EVALUATION PURPOSES ONLY, SALES TAXES WILL NOT BE CONSIDERED FOR ANY BIDDER IN DETERMINING THE AWARDED FIRM.
- (2) In the event the low responsive and responsible bid for a purchase exceeds available funds as certified by the procurement officer and budget office, and such bid does not exceed such funds by more than five percent (5%), the procurement office is authorized, when time or economic considerations preclude re-solicitation of work of a reduced scope, to negotiate an adjustment of the bid price with the low responsive and responsible bidder, in order to bring the bid within the amount of available funds. Any such negotiated adjustment shall be based only upon eliminating independent deductive items specified in the invitation for bids;
- (3) After contract award, bids shall be available for public inspection, except to the extent that the withholding of information is permitted or required by law. If the bidder designates a portion of its bid as confidential, it shall isolate and identify in writing the confidential portions as designated in the definition of confidential information, but the city remains subject to the Arizona public records law. ~~Material portions of~~ A BRIEF SUMMARY OF the bid being recommended for award AND COMPETING BIDS will be INCLUDED IN THE REQUEST FOR COUNCIL ACTION AND published to the city's external web site up to five (5) days prior to THE CITY council ~~review~~ MEETING. All other bids including evaluation information shall remain confidential until after award;
- (4) The city, at its option, may not recommend for award the bid of a vendor who is in default on the payment of city taxes, licenses or other monies due the city at the time of bid opening;
- (5) The city, at its option, may not recommend for award the bid of a vendor who has defaulted on a previous contract with the city; or has defaulted on a similar

contract with another jurisdiction or public entity during a past three (3) year period;

- (6) If there are two (2) or more low responsive bids from responsible bidders that are identical in price and that meet all the requirements and criteria set forth in the invitation for bids, award may be made by a coin toss; and
- (7) The procurement office shall procure recycled materials in accord with ordinances, resolutions and administrative directives of the city.

Section 7. That Chapter 26A, Article I, Section 26A-8, of the Tempe City Code is hereby amended to read as follows:

Sec. 26A-8. Competitive sealed proposals.

(a) *Conditions for use.* When the procurement officer with the approval of the procurement administrator, determines that the use of an invitation for bids is either not practicable or not advantageous to the city, a contract may be entered into by use of a request for proposals.

(b) *Request for proposals.* Request for proposals shall be issued and shall include desired specifications, and all contractual terms and conditions applicable to the procurement.

(c) *Public notice.* Adequate public notice of the request for proposals shall be given in the same manner as provided in § 26A-6(c).

(d) *Solicitation amendments.* Solicitation amendments shall be handled in the same manner as described in § 26A-6(d).

(e) *Receipt of proposals.* Proposals shall be opened publicly in the presence of one or more witnesses at the time and place designated in the request for proposals. IF THE PROPOSALS HAVE BEEN FILED ON-LINE IN AN ELECTRONIC FORMAT THEN THE OPENING WILL BE EFFECTIVE UPON THE OPENING DATE AND TIME SPECIFIED. The name of each offeror shall be read. All other information contained in the proposals shall be confidential so as to avoid disclosure of contents prejudicial to competing offerors during the negotiation process. Proposals shall be open for public inspection only after contract award. A proposal, modification or withdrawal is late if it is received at the location designated in the request for proposal after the time and date set for proposal opening. A late proposal, late modification or late withdrawal shall be rejected, unless the proposal, modification or withdrawal would have been timely received but for the action or inaction of ~~central services~~ PROCUREMENT personnel and is received before contract award. Prior to the scheduled opening, the procurement department may open an offer to identify the offeror. If this occurs, the staff member shall record the reason for opening the offer, the date and time the offer was opened, and the solicitation number. The offer shall be secured and retained for public opening.

(f) *Correction and withdrawal of proposals prior to award.* Correction and withdrawal of proposals prior to award shall be handled in the same manner as provided in § 26A-6(g).

(g) *Mistakes discovered after award.* Mistakes discovered after award shall be handled in the same manner as provided in § 26A-6(i), (j) and (k).

(h) *Evaluation factors.* The request for proposals shall state the relative importance of price and other evaluation factors. Specific numerical weighing is not required. Evaluation factors may include but are not limited to categories such as price, quality, experience, expertise, qualifications, method of approach, responsiveness, financial strength, etc.

(i) *Extension of the offer and acceptance period.* Extension of the offer and acceptance period shall be handled in the same manner as described in § 26A-6(l).

(j) *Clarifications of offers.* The purpose for clarifications is to provide for a greater mutual understanding of the offer. Clarifications are not negotiations and material changes to the request for proposal or offer shall not be made by clarification. The procurement officer may request clarifications from any offeror(s) at any time after receipt of offers. Clarifications may be requested orally or in writing. If clarifications are requested orally, the offeror shall confirm the request in writing. A request for clarifications shall not be considered a determination that the offeror is susceptible for award. Any clarifications shall be retained in the procurement file.

(k) *Determination of not susceptible for award.* A procurement officer may determine at any time during the evaluation period and before award that an offer is not susceptible for award. The procurement officer shall notify the offeror in writing of the final determination that the offer is not susceptible for award unless the purchasing officer determines that notification to the offeror would compromise the city's ability to negotiate with other offerors. A determination of non-susceptibility shall be based on the following (but not limited to):

- (1) A legal offer has not been submitted due to the lack of an authorized signature (OR OTHER LEGAL COMMITMENT TO BE BOUND) on the designated offer form; or
- (2) AN OFFER IS SUBSTANTIALLY LACKING IN REQUIRED INFORMATION THAT WAS TO BE SUBMITTED BY THE OFFEROR AT THE TIME OF PROPOSAL SUBMITTAL THAT SIGNIFICANTLY IMPACTS THE ABILITY OF THE EVALUATION COMMITTEE TO PROPERLY ASSESS SCORING; OR
- (~~2~~ 3) The offer is not within the competitive range in comparison to other offers based on the scoring of evaluation criteria as set forth in the solicitation.

(l) *Negotiations with responsible offerors.* If negotiations are conducted, negotiations shall be conducted with all offerors determined to be reasonably susceptible for award. Negotiations may be conducted orally or in writing. If oral negotiations are conducted, the offeror shall confirm the negotiations in writing. Offerors may revise offers based on

negotiations provided that any revision is confirmed in writing. The city may conduct negotiations with responsible offerors to improve offers in such areas as cost, price, specifications, performance or terms, to achieve best value for the city based on the requirements and the evaluation factors set forth in the solicitation. Once negotiations are initiated, an offeror may withdraw an offer at any time before the BEST AND final ~~proposal-revision~~ OFFER due date and time by submitting a written request to the procurement officer. The procurement officer shall ensure there is no disclosure of one offeror's price or any information derived from competing offers to another offeror.

(m) ~~Final BEST AND FINAL proposal-revisions OFFERS.~~ The procurement officer shall request written ~~final~~ BEST AND FINAL ~~proposal-revisions~~ OFFERS from any offeror with whom negotiations have been conducted. ~~Final BEST AND FINAL proposal-revisions OFFERS shall be requested only once, unless the city procurement administrator makes a written determination~~ DETERMINES that it is advantageous to the city to conduct further negotiations or change the city's requirements. The procurement officer shall include in the written request:

- (1) The date, time and place for submission of BEST AND final ~~proposal-revisions~~ OFFERS; and
- (2) A statement that if offerors do not submit a written notice of withdrawal or a written BEST AND final ~~proposal-revision~~ OFFER, their last ~~revision~~ OFFER shall be accepted as their BEST AND final ~~proposal-revision~~ OFFER.

(n) *Contract award.* Award shall ~~be made by the city council~~ BE MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 26A-5 on the recommendation of the procurement administrator to the responsible offeror whose proposal is determined in writing to be the most advantageous to the city, taking into consideration price and the evaluation factors set forth in the request for proposals. No other factors or criteria shall be used in the evaluation. The contract file shall contain the basis on which the award is made. After contract award, the proposals shall be open for public inspection except to the extent that the withholding of information is permitted or required by law. If the offeror designates a portion of its proposal as confidential, it shall isolate and identify in writing the confidential portions, but the city remains subject to the Arizona public records law. ~~Material portions of the recommended firm's proposal shall be published to the city's external web site up to five (5) days~~ A BRIEF SUMMARY OF THE PROPOSAL BEING RECOMMENDED FOR AWARD AND COMPETING PROPOSALS ALONG WITH CURSORY SCORING INFORMATION WILL BE INCLUDED IN THE REQUEST FOR COUNCIL ACTION AND PUBLISHED TO THE CITY'S EXTERNAL WEB SITE UP TO FIVE (5) DAYS prior to THE CITY council ~~review~~ MEETING. ~~All other offers not recommended for award including evaluation information shall not be revealed until after award by council.~~ ALL OTHER PROPOSALS INCLUDING EVALUATION INFORMATION SHALL REMAIN CONFIDENTIAL UNTIL AFTER AWARD. In the event the city manager or city council rejects the recommended award, all submitted offers will ~~become available for public review no matter if the city plans to resolicit within six (6) months~~ BE HELD CONFIDENTIAL IF THE CITY PLANS TO RE-ISSUE THE SOLICITATION WITHIN SIX (6) MONTHS FROM THE DATE OF REJECTION.

Section 8. That Chapter 26A, Article I, Section 26A-9, of the Tempe City Code is hereby amended to read as follows:

Sec. 26A-9. Contracting for professional services.

(a) A contract for professional services may be awarded by means of competitive sealed proposals, by an invitation for bids or by limited source selection if the director of the using department determines in writing that the nature of the service presents such limited competition that a competitive process cannot reasonably be used or, if used, will result in a substantially higher cost to the city, will otherwise impair the city's financial interests or will substantially impede the city's administrative functions or the delivery of services to the public; or if only one provider has the experience and capability to successfully perform the contract. The director of the department shall be responsible for making a limited source determination, prepare and sign a written limited source justification for not seeking competition and transmit the justification to the procurement office for review.

(b) Unless the director of the department makes a limited source determination that is approved by the procurement officer and procurement administrator, the procurement office shall issue competitive solicitations for THE REQUESTED professional services.

(c) Professional and personal service contracts requiring formal city council approvals ~~shall~~ MAY be reviewed by the city risk management division and city attorney's office before signing.

Section 9. That Chapter 26A, Article I, Section 26A-10, of the Tempe City Code is hereby amended to read as follows:

Sec. 26A-10. ~~Selection procedure for legal counsel.~~ REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS

Conditions for use. ~~Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, the services of legal counsel may be procured by a request for qualifications approach.~~ A REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS MAY BE UTILIZED FOR CERTAIN PROFESSIONAL SERVICES (SUCH AS DEVELOPER SERVICES FOR THE SALE OR LEASE OF CITY OWNED LAND) WHEN THE CITY IS ATTEMPTING TO EVALUATE A COMPANY ON CATEGORIES OTHER THAN COST. THE ISSUANCE, EVALUATION, AND AWARDED OF A REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS SHALL FOLLOW THE FORMAT AS OUTLINED HEREIN FOR COMPETITIVE SEALED PROPOSALS IN SECTION 26A-8. WHEN ISSUING REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS FOR DEVELOPER SERVICES INVOLVING THE SALE OR LEASE OF CITY OWNED LAND THOSE SOLICITATIONS SHALL BE CONSIDERED COUNCIL INITIATED CONTRACTS.

~~(b) *Statement of qualifications.* Persons engaged in providing the services of legal counsel may submit statements of qualifications and expressions of interest in providing such services. The city may specify a uniform format for statements of qualifications. Persons may amend these statements at any time by filing a new statement.~~

~~(c) *Public announcement.* Adequate notice of the need for legal services shall be given by the city attorney. The notice shall describe the services required, list the types of information and data required of each offeror, and state the relative importance of particular qualifications.~~

~~(d) *Discussions.* For legal services, the city attorney or a designee of such officer, may conduct discussions with any offeror who has submitted a proposal to determine such offeror's qualifications for further consideration. Discussions shall not disclose any information derived from proposals submitted by other offerors.~~

~~(e) *Award.* Award of legal service contracts with a dollar value requiring city council approval, shall be made by the mayor and council to the offeror determined in writing by the city attorney or designee to the best qualified provider and after negotiation of compensation determined to be fair and reasonable.~~

Section 10. That Chapter 26A, Article I, Section 26A-11, of the Tempe City Code is hereby amended to read as follows:

Sec. 26A-11. ~~Small purchases~~ PURCHASES UNDER THE FORMAL SOLICITATION THRESHOLD.

(a) *General.* Any contract not exceeding the dollar value requiring formal bidding may be made by the procurement office in accordance with the ~~small purchase~~ INFORMAL PURCHASING procedures authorized in this section. Contract requirements shall not be artificially divided so as to constitute a ~~small~~ AN INFORMAL purchase under this section.

(b) ~~*Small purchases*~~ PURCHASES between \$5,000 and ~~\$49,999~~ \$99,999. Insofar as it is practical for ~~small~~ purchases equal to or in excess of five thousand dollars (\$5,000), but less than ~~forty~~ **FIFTY ONE HUNDRED** thousand dollars (~~\$50,000~~) (\$100,000), no less than three (3) businesses shall be solicited to submit quotations. Award shall be made to the responsible ~~bidder~~ PARTY submitting the quotation that is most advantageous to the city and conforms in all material respects to the solicitation. The names of the businesses submitting quotations, and the date and amount of each quotation, shall be recorded and maintained as a public record. Verbal or written quotes shall be received from vendors when the total quote value is under fifteen thousand dollars (\$15,000). Written quotes shall be received from vendors when the total quote value is over fifteen thousand dollars (\$15,000) but under ~~forty~~ **FIFTY ONE HUNDRED** thousand dollars (~~\$50,000~~) (\$100,000). **THE PROCUREMENT OFFICER WITH THE APPROVAL OF THE PROCUREMENT ADMINISTRATOR MAY DETERMINE IN WRITING THAT A PURCHASE UNDER THE FORMAL SOLICITATION THRESHOLD IS NOT PRACTICAL TO QUOTE. THE WRITTEN DETERMINATION WILL DOCUMENT WHY THIS DETERMINATION IS MADE AND WHAT CIRCUMSTANCES LIMITS THE ITEM FROM BEING COMPETED.**

(c) ~~*Small purchases*~~ PURCHASES under \$5,000. The procurement administrator shall adopt operational procedures for making ~~small~~ purchases of less than five thousand dollars (\$5,000). Such operational procedures shall provide for obtaining adequate and reasonable competition for the materials, goods and services being purchased. **QUOTES ARE NOT**

REQUIRED FOR SINGLE PURCHASE REQUIREMENTS VALUED AT LESS THAN FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS (\$5,000).

Section 11. That Chapter 26A, Article I, Section 26A-13.1, of the Tempe City Code is hereby amended to read as follows:

Sec. 26A-13.1. Reverse auction bidding.

(a) *Conditions for use.* When the procurement officer, with the approval of the procurement administrator determines it is advantageous to the city, a contract for goods, services, or information services may be subject to reverse auction bidding. Reverse auction bidding could include electronic bidding, over the internet in a real-time, competitive bidding event. Reverse auction bidding may be used for any of the solicitation processes described within the procurement ordinance including request for quotations, invitation for bids, and request for proposals.

(b) *Public notice.* The procurement office shall select a solicitation process and follow the procedures provided for in this chapter. Any public notice of a solicitation process utilizing the reverse auction option will clearly indicate that pricing will be established separately via an independent bidding event. Firms will be directed to not include pricing with initial submittals. Qualified firms will be invited to participate in a separate reverse auction bidding event to be announced as to time and date after offer submission.

(c) *Bid opening.* Offers shall be received and recorded in accordance with the procedures provided for in this chapter for the solicitation process selected by the procurement officer.

(d) *Bid acceptance, bid evaluation and contract award.* The procedure for bid acceptance, bid evaluation and contract award shall follow the procedures for the selected procurement process as outlined in this chapter except:

- (1) When using an invitation for bid process, the submitted offers will be reviewed to determine those firms that are considered responsible and responsive to the published solicitation. Only those firms determined to be responsive and responsible will be moved forward to the pricing step using the reverse auction bidding event. The qualified firms will receive direction from the city on how the pricing step will be accomplished. The reverse auction bidding event will be conducted by the city or via a qualified reverse auction contractor. Once the reverse auction ~~bidding~~ BIDDING event is completed, the city will finalize the evaluation process by determining the lowest responsive and responsible bidder; or
- (2) When using a request for proposal process, the submitted offers will be evaluated and scored in accordance with published evaluation criteria with the exception of cost. Once the initial scoring has been finalized, the city will determine which firms are considered susceptible for award. Only those firms determined susceptible for award will be invited to participate in the reverse

auction bidding event to determine the price component. Once the reverse auction bidding event is complete, the city will finalize the scoring matrix WHICH WILL INCLUDE THE ASSIGNING OF COST POINTS BASED ON RESULTS OF REVERSE AUCTION. The city will have the option of entering into discussions with those firms determined susceptible for award. Interviews may be conducted as well to ensure full understanding of offers. Best and final offers may also be requested as outlined in this chapter. Award will be made to the most advantageous offer IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SCORING OF PUBLISHED EVALUATION CRITERIA.

Section 12. That Chapter 26A, Article I, Section 26A-15, of the Tempe City Code is hereby amended to read as follows:

Sec. 26A-15. Rejection of bids or proposals after opening.

(a) After opening but prior to award, all bids or proposals may be rejected in whole or in part when the procurement officer with the approval of the procurement administrator determines in writing that such action is in the city's best interest for reasons including, but not limited to:

- (1) The materials or services being procured are no longer required;
- (2) Ambiguous or otherwise inadequate specifications were part of the solicitation;
- (3) The solicitation did not provide for consideration of all factors of significance to the city;
- (4) Prices exceed available funds and it would not be appropriate to adjust quantities to come within available funds;
- (5) All otherwise acceptable bids or proposals received are at clearly unreasonable prices;
- (6) There is reason to believe that the bids or proposals may not have been independently arrived at in open competition, may have been collusive, or may have been submitted in bad faith; or
- (7) Necessary or proposed amendments to the solicitation would be of such importance that a new solicitation may be desirable and is in the best interests of the city.

(b) When a solicitation is rejected or cancelled after opening, notice of rejection or cancellation shall be provided to all businesses that submitted bids or proposals, and may be separately sent or included as an explanation in a subsequent solicitation of the need. The reasons for cancellation or rejection shall be made a part of the procurement file and shall be available for public inspection. The city shall retain offers received under the cancelled solicitation in the procurement file. If the city intends to issue ~~another~~ A REPLACEMENT

solicitation within six (6) months after cancellation of the procurement ~~and provided an award recommendation was not published to the city's external web site~~, the city shall withhold the offers from public inspection. After award of a contract under the subsequent solicitation, the city shall make offers submitted in response to the cancelled solicitation available for public inspection except for information determined to be confidential as allowed herein.

(c) A bid ~~or proposal~~ may be rejected if:

- (1) The bidder is determined to be non-responsible; or
- (2) The bid is non-responsive.

(d) A proposal or quotation may be rejected if:

- (1) The person responding to the solicitation is determined to be non-responsible;
- (2) ~~It is unacceptable~~ THE PROPOSAL IS DETERMINED NON-SUSCEPTIBLE;
- (3) The proposed price is unreasonable; or
- (4) It is otherwise not advantageous to the city.

(e) Reasons for rejection shall be provided upon request by unsuccessful bidders or offerors.

Section 13. That Chapter 26A, Article I, Section 26A-16, of the Tempe City Code is hereby amended to read as follows:

Sec. 26A-16. Responsibility of bidders and offerors.

(a) *Determination of non-responsibility.* If a bidder or offeror who otherwise would have been awarded a contract is found non-responsible, a written determination of non-responsibility, setting forth the basis of the finding, shall be prepared by the procurement officer. The unreasonable failure of a bidder or offeror to promptly supply information in connection with an inquiry with respect to responsibility may be grounds for a determination of non-responsibility with respect to such bidder or offeror. The final determination shall be made part of the contract file ~~and be made a public record.~~

~~(b) *Right of non-disclosure.* Information furnished by a bidder or offeror pursuant to this section shall not be disclosed by the city outside of the department, or using agency, without prior written consent by the bidder or offeror, to the extent allowed by law.~~

(eB) *Factors used to demonstrate bidder or offeror responsibility.* For a bidder or offeror to be considered responsible, the bidder or offeror shall demonstrate to the satisfaction of the city, its capability to perform an awarded contract in a satisfactory and timely manner, based

on requirements stated in the city's bid solicitation which may include but not be limited to whether the proposed bidder or offeror:

- (1) Has sufficient and acceptable financial, business, personnel or other resources, including subcontractors;
- (2) Has a successful record of performance and integrity, which may include past contracts with the city or other public agencies;
- (3) Is legally licensed, certified or otherwise legally qualified to contract with the city at the time of the response to the solicitation; and
- (4) Has supplied all necessary information concerning its responsibility to meet city requirements for contract responsibility.

(dC) *Procurement responsibility criteria.* The procurement officer may establish specific responsibility criteria for a particular procurement. Any specific responsibility criteria shall be set forth in the solicitation.

(eD) *Pre-qualification.* Prospective contractors may be pre-qualified for particular types of materials, goods or services. Prospective contractors have a continuing duty to provide the procurement office with information on any material change affecting the basis of pre-qualification.

(fE) *Bid and contract security, material or service contracts.* The procurement officer may require the submission of security to guarantee faithful bid and contract performance. Security shall be in the form specified within the city's bid solicitation, and may include but not be limited to a performance bond, fidelity bond or irrevocable letter of credit. In determining the amount and type of security required for each contract, the procurement officer shall consider the nature of the performance and the need for future protection to the city. The requirement for security must be included in the invitation for bids or request for proposals. Failure to timely submit security in the amount and type of security required may result in the rejection of the bid or proposal.

Section 14. That Chapter 26A, Article I, Section 26A-17, of the Tempe City Code is hereby amended to read as follows:

Sec. 26A-17. Types of contracts.

(a) *General.* Subject to the limitations of this section, any type of contract which will promote the best interests of this city may be used. Cost-plus-a-percentage-of-cost contracts shall not be used unless unique circumstances support the use of this type of contract mechanism. A cost-reimbursement contract may be used only if a determination is made in writing by the procurement officer that such contract is likely to be less costly to the city than any other type or that it is impracticable to obtain the materials, goods or services required except under such a contract.

(b) *Contract administration.* A contract administration system designed to insure that a contractor is performing in accordance with the solicitation under which the contract was awarded, and the terms and conditions of the contract, shall be maintained.

(c) *Approval of accounting system.* Except with respect to firm fixed-price contracts, the procurement officer may require that the proposed contractor's accounting system is adequate to allocate costs in accordance with generally accepted cost accounting principles prior to award of a contract.

(d) *Multi-term contracts.* Unless otherwise provided by law, a contract for materials or services may be entered into for a period of time as deemed to be in the best interest of this city, if the term of the contract and conditions of renewal or extension, if any, are included in the solicitation and monies are available for the first fiscal period at the time of contracting. Payment and performance obligations for succeeding fiscal periods are subject to the availability and appropriation of monies.

(e) *Right to inspect plant.* The city may, at reasonable times, inspect the part of the plant or place of business of a contractor or any subcontractor which is related to the performance of any contract awarded or to be awarded by the city.

(f) *Right to audit records.* The city may, at reasonable times and places, audit the books and records of:

- (1) Any person, vendor or contractor who submits cost or pricing data to the extent that the books and records relate to the cost or pricing data. Any person, vendor or contractor who receives a contract, change order or contract modification for which cost or pricing data is required shall maintain the books and records that relate to the cost or pricing data for three (3) years from the date of final payment under the contract, unless a shorter period is otherwise authorized in writing by the procurement officer; and
- (2) Any contractor or subcontractor under any contract or subcontract to the extent that the books and records relate to the performance of the contract or subcontract. The books and records shall be maintained by the contractor for a period of three (3) years from the date of final payment under the prime contractor and by the subcontractor for a period of three (3) years from the date of final payment under the subcontract, unless a shorter period is otherwise authorized in writing by the Internal Services Director.

(g) *Reporting of anti-competitive practices.* If for any reason collusion or other anti-competitive practices are suspected among any bidders or offerors, a notice of the relevant facts shall be transmitted to the procurement administrator and the city attorney. This section does not require a law enforcement agency conducting an investigation into such practices to convey such notice to the procurement administrator.

(h) *Prospective bidders notice.* The following pertains to bidder notices:

- (1) The procurement office shall provide for the issuing of public bid solicitation notices as may be compiled and maintained on a prospective bidders list, placed for electronic inquiry, or placed for public advertisement. Inclusion of the name of a person on a bidders list shall not indicate whether the person is responsible concerning a particular procurement or otherwise capable of successfully performing a city contract;
- (2) Persons desiring to be included on the prospective bidders list shall ~~notify the procurement office. Upon notification, the procurement office shall provide the person with a bidder registration form. The person shall complete the bidder registration form and return it to the procurement office. Within thirty (30) days after receiving the bidder registration form, the procurement office shall add the person to the prospective bidders list unless the procurement administrator makes a written determination that inclusion is not advantageous to the city; and~~ COMPLETE THE ONLINE APPLICATION THAT CAN BE ACCESSED FROM THE PROCUREMENT DIVISION'S INTERNET PORTAL. IT WILL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE APPLICANT TO PROPERLY COMPLETE THE APPLICATION AND MAINTAIN THE APPLICATION OVER TIME TO ENSURE ACCURACY OF INFORMATION;
- (3) ~~Persons that fail to respond to invitations for bids or requests for proposals for two (2) consecutive solicitations of similar material, goods or services may be removed from the applicable bidders list after mailing a notice to the business. Persons may be reinstated upon written request.~~

(i) *Contract form and execution.* All contracts entered into under this chapter shall be executed in the name of the city by the procurement office or the mayor, as necessary, and may be approved as to form by the city attorney. When necessary, some contracts are required to be countersigned by the city clerk.

(j) *Efficient resource procurement and utilization.* It shall be encouraged that printed material produced by a contractor in the performance of a contract shall, whenever practicable, be printed on recycled paper, labeled as printed on recycled paper and printed on both sides.

Section 15. That Chapter 26A, Article I, Section 26A-18, of the Tempe City Code is hereby amended to read as follows:

Sec. 26A-18. Specifications.

(a) *Definition.* As used in this section, "specification" means any description of the physical or functional characteristics, or of the nature of a material, good or service. Specification may include a description of any requirement for inspecting, testing or preparing a material, good or service for delivery.

(b) *Maximum practicable competition.* All specifications shall seek to promote overall economy for the purposes intended and encourage competition in satisfying the city's needs and shall not be unduly restrictive. No person preparing specifications shall receive any direct or indirect benefit from the utilization of such specifications. To the extent practicable and unless otherwise permitted by this chapter, all specifications shall describe the city's requirements in a manner that does not unnecessarily exclude a material, good or service.

(c) *Proprietary specifications.* Proprietary specifications shall not be used unless the procurement officer with the approval of the procurement administrator determines in writing that such specifications are required by demonstrable technological justification and that it is not practicable or advantageous to use a less restrictive specification. Past success in the material's performance, traditional purchasing practices or inconvenience of drawing specifications do not justify the use of proprietary specifications. If a proprietary specification is determined to be appropriate, the specification shall include the following:

- (1) A description of the essential characteristics of the products and materials so specified; and
- (2) A statement indicating the city's intent to consider alternative products or materials which have the described essential characteristics if such alternative products or materials are identified.

(d) *Submitting ~~a bid~~ PRIOR APPROVALS FOR A SOLICITATION for alternative products or materials.* Persons desiring to submit bids for alternative products or materials for prior approval, shall submit such products and any support information in the time specified by the bid solicitation, prior to the scheduled bid opening date. The city shall consider and either approve or reject bids submitted and shall comply with the following requirements:

- (1) If in the time specified in the bid solicitation, the city has approved any alternative products or materials, the bid solicitation shall be modified to include the alternative products or materials, and the city shall issue an addendum to all registered and known bidders at least ten (10) calendar days prior to the bid opening deadline; and
- (2) If the city rejects an alternative product or material, it shall give notice of the rejection to the bidder proposing the alternative product or material as required by the time specified in the bid solicitation, and prior to the bid opening date. The rejection notice shall include a description of the rejected product or material.

(e) *Accepted commercial specifications.* To the extent practicable, the city shall use accepted commercial specifications and shall procure standard commercial materials.

(f) *Brand name or equal specification.* A brand name or equal specification may be used when the procurement officer determines that use of brand name or equal specifications is advantageous to the city. IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF BIDDER TO PROVIDE

COMPLETE DESCRIPTIVE LITERATURE FOR ANY ALTERNATE PRODUCT OFFERED. FAILURE TO PROVIDE DESCRIPTIVE LITERATURE OR INSUFFICIENT LITERATURE MAY RESULT IN THE REJECTION OF THE OFFER FOR THAT PRODUCT.

(g) *Brand name specification.* A brand name specification may be prepared and utilized only if the procurement officer makes a determination that only the identified brand name item will satisfy the city's needs.

(h) *Ozone-producing agents.* To the extent practicable and where applicable, specifications shall promote products which are documented and evaluated to have low or no content of reactive organic compounds (ozone-producing agents).

(I) ~~Conservation~~ *SUSTAINABLE PRACTICES.* Where the city considers practicable, cost effective and applicable, specifications shall promote the use of recycled content, recyclability, energy consumption and conservation.

Section 16. That Chapter 26A, Article I, Section 26A-19, of the Tempe City Code is hereby amended to read as follows:

Sec. 26A-19. Contract clauses.

(a) *Contract clauses.* All city contracts for materials, goods or services shall include provisions necessary to define the responsibilities and rights of the parties to the contract. The procurement administrator, after consultation with the city attorney, may issue clauses appropriate for material, good or service contracts, addressing among others the following subjects:

- (1) The unilateral right of the city to order in writing changes in the work within the scope of the contract;
- (2) The unilateral right of the city to order in writing temporary stopping of the work or delaying performance that does not alter the scope of the contract;
- (3) Variations occurring between estimated quantities of work in contract and actual quantities;
- (4) Defective pricing;
- (5) Liquidated damages;
- (6) Specified excuses for delay or nonperformance;
- (7) Termination of the contract for default;
- (8) Termination of the contract in whole or in part for the convenience of the city; and

- (9) Site conditions differing from those indicated in the contract, or ordinarily encountered; except that a differing site conditions clause need not be included in a contract that is negotiated, when the contractor provides the site or design, or when the parties have otherwise agreed with respect to the risk of differing site conditions.

(b) *Price adjustments.* Adjustments in price where allowed by the terms and conditions of a bid solicitation or contract shall be computed in one or more of the following ways:

- (1) By agreement on a fixed price adjustment before commencement of the pertinent performance or as soon thereafter as practicable;
- (2) By unit prices specified in the contract or subsequently agreed upon;
- (3) By the costs attributable to the events or situations under such clauses with adjustment of profit or fee, all as specified in the contract or subsequently agreed upon;
- (4) By published price reduction or if applicable to contract, profit sharing advantage to the city concurrent with announcements to other customers, as may be specified in the contract or subsequently agreed upon;
- (5) In such other manner as the contracting parties may mutually agree;
- (6) In the absence of agreement by the parties, by a unilateral determination by the city of the costs attributable to the events or situations with adjustment of profit or fee as computed by the city; or
- (7) A contractor shall be required to submit cost or pricing data if any adjustment in contract price is requested and permitted by the bid solicitation or contract, AS DETERMINED NECESSARY BY THE PROCUREMENT OFFICER.

(c) *Standard clauses and their modification.* The procurement administrator, after consultation with the city attorney, may establish standard contract clauses for use in city contracts. If the procurement administrator establishes any standard clauses addressing the subjects set forth in subsection (a) above, such clauses may be varied provided that any variations are supported by a written determination that states the circumstances justifying such variations, and provided that notice of any such material variation be stated in the invitation for bids or request for proposals.

Section 17. That Chapter 26A, Article I, Section 26A-21, of the Tempe City Code is hereby amended to read as follows:

Sec. 26A-21. Protest procedure.

(a) *Right to protest.* Any actual or prospective bidder, offeror or contractor who believes they are aggrieved in connection with the solicitation or award of a contract may file a protest with the procurement office. All protests shall be filed with the procurement officer, with a copy of the protest being delivered to the procurement administrator. The procedures for filing the protest are set forth herein.

(b) *Resolution of bid protests.* The procurement officer shall have the authority to resolve protests. Appeals from the decisions of the procurement officer may be made to the procurement administrator as set forth herein.

(c) *Filing of a protest.* Any protest shall be in writing and shall include the following information:

- (1) The name, current address and telephone number of the protester;
- (2) The signature of the protester or its representative;
- (3) Identification of the solicitation or contract number;
- (4) A detailed statement of the legal and factual grounds of the protest including copies of relevant documents; and
- (5) The form of relief requested.

(d) *Time for filing protests.* The time for filing protests shall be as follows:

- (1) If a protest is based upon any alleged improprieties occurring in a solicitation prior to the deadline date of a solicitation response, such a protest must be filed prior to the deadline date. Otherwise, any protests based on any alleged improprieties in a solicitation during this time frame will be deemed waived;
- (2) If a protest is based upon any alleged improprieties occurring upon or after the deadline date for a solicitation response, such protest must be filed prior to the award of the contract. Otherwise, any protests based on any alleged improprieties during this time frame will be deemed waived;
- (3) Protests concerning alleged improprieties that do not exist in the initial solicitation but that allegedly exist in the subsequently incorporated addendum to the solicitation shall be filed by the next deadline date for receipt of addendum responses;
- (4) Protests concerning awards shall be filed within ten (10) business days after the contract has been awarded. The city typically publishes award recommendations five (5) days prior to council review; and

- (5) The procurement officer may grant any written requests for extensions of time to file a protest if the request for an extension of time sets forth good cause as to why the extension is necessary; why the protest could not be filed within the times set forth herein; and the request is submitted prior to the expiration of time for filing the original protest. If the extension of time request is not filed prior to the expiration of time for filing the original protest, the extension and protest will be deemed to be denied and/or waived. The ruling on the request for extension shall be set forth in writing setting forth the basis for the grant or denial and, if granted, setting forth the deadline by which the protest must be filed.

(e) *Notice of protest.* The procurement officer shall immediately give notice of the protest to all interested parties.

(f) *Stay of procurements during the protest.* In the event of a timely protest as set forth herein, the procurement administrator shall make a written decision to:

- (1) Proceed or not proceed with the solicitation process, award or contract execution or performance;
- (2) Stay or not stay all or part of the procurement award or contract performance, based upon the best interests of the city; and
- (3) The procurement administrator shall provide the protestor, procurement officer and any other interested party with a copy of the written decision as to whether or not to stay the award or contract execution or performance.

(g) *Decision by the procurement officer.* The procurement officer shall:

- (1) Unless extended as provided herein, issue a written decision no later than ten (10) business days after a protest has been filed. The decision shall contain an explanation of the basis of the decision;
- (2) Transmit a copy of the decision to the protester, by certified mail, return receipt requested or by electronic transmission that provides evidence of receipt; and
- (3) Extend the time limit for a decision by the procurement officer for a reasonable time not to exceed thirty (30) calendar days. The procurement officer shall notify the protester in writing that the time for the issuance of a decision has been extended and the date by which a decision will be issued. If the procurement officer fails to issue a timely decision, the protester may proceed as if the procurement officer had issued an adverse decision.

(h) *Remedies.* Remedies shall be addressed as follows:

- (1) If the procurement office sustains the protest in whole or part and determines that a solicitation, proposed contract award or awarded contract does not comply with the procurement code, the procurement office shall implement an appropriate remedy;
- (2) In determining an appropriate remedy, the procurement office shall consider all the circumstances surrounding the procurement or proposed procurement including, but not limited to, the seriousness of the procurement deficiency, the degree of prejudice to other interested parties or to the integrity of the procurement system, the good faith of the parties, the extent of performance, costs to the city, the urgency of the procurement and the impact of the relief on the using department's mission and other relevant issues;
- (3) An appropriate remedy may be to decline an option to renew the contract, to terminate the contract and reissue the solicitation, to issue a new solicitation and award a contract consistent with the procurement code, or to seek relief as determined to be in the best interests of the city and in conformity with city procurement; and
- (4) If the procurement officer denies the protest, then the procurement office may lift any stays previously placed on the award or contract execution or performance and may continue with the solicitation, awarding the contract or allowing the successful bidder or respondent to begin executing the contract previously awarded.

(i) *Appeals to the procurement administrator.* A written appeal from a decision entered or deemed to be entered by the procurement officer shall be filed with the procurement administrator no later than ten (10) business days from the date the decision of the procurement officer is sent by certified mail, return receipt requested or by electronic transmission that provides evidence of receipt and the appellant shall also file a copy of the appeal with the procurement officer.

(j) *Content of appeal.* The appeal shall contain:

- (1) The information set forth in subsection (c) above;
- (2) A copy of the decision of the procurement officer; and
- (3) The precise alleged factual or legal error in the decision of the procurement officer from which an appeal is taken.

(k) *Notice of appeal.* The procurement office shall immediately give notice of the appeal to the recommended or awarded offeror. Interested parties shall have the right to request copies of the appeal. The recommended or awarded offeror has the right to participate in the proceedings.

(l) *Stay of procurement during appeal.* In the event of a timely appeal as set forth herein, the procurement administrator shall make a written decision to:

- (1) If a stay has already been issued, continue the stay. The stay can be lifted if the procurement administrator makes a written determination that the award of a contract or a notice to proceed with contract performance is necessary to protect the best interests of the city; and
- (2) If a stay was not previously issued, the procurement administrator may, after reviewing the procurement officer's decision and the appeal, stay the procurement if it is determined that a stay is in the best interests of the city.

(m) *Procurement administrator report.* The Internal Services Director shall require the procurement administrator to file a ~~final~~ SUMMARY report on the appeal within fifteen (15) business days from the date the appeal is filed and provide copies of the administrator's report to the appellant by certified mail, return receipt requested and the recommended or awarded offeror. The report WILL CONTAIN A COMPILATION OF ALL PERTINENT DOCUMENTS RELATED TO THE PROTEST APPEAL AND may contain copies of:

- (1) The appeal;
- (2) The bid or proposal submitted by the appellant;
- (3) The bid or proposal of the firm that is being considered for award;
- (4) The solicitation, including the specifications or portions relevant to the appeal;
- (5) The abstract of bids or proposals or relevant portions;
- (6) Any other documents that are relevant to the protest; and
- (7) A statement by the procurement officer setting forth findings, actions, recommendations and any additional evidence or information necessary to determine the validity of the appeal.

(n) *Extension for filing of report.* The procurement administrator may make a request to the Internal Services Director in writing for an extension of the time period setting forth the reason for the extension request. The Internal Services Director's determination on the request shall be in writing, state the reasons for the determination and, if an extension is granted, set forth a new date for the submission of the procurement administrator's report. The procurement administrator shall notify the appellant in writing that the time for the submission of the report has been extended and the date by which the report will be submitted.

(o) *Response to report.* The appellant may file a response to the report with the procurement administrator no later than ten (10) business days after certified receipt of the

report. Copies of the response shall be provided by the appellant to the procurement officer and the Internal Services Director.

(p) *Decision of procurement administrator.* Unless extensions are provided as set forth herein, the procurement administrator shall issue a written decision no later than fifteen (15) business days after appellant's certified receipt of report if no response is filed or no later than fifteen (15) business days after the procurement office receives a response.

(q) *Extension for filing of decision.* The procurement administrator may make a request to the Internal Services Director in writing for an extension of the time period setting forth the reason for the extension request. The Internal Services Director's determination on the request shall be in writing, state the reasons for the determination and, if an extension is granted, set forth a new date for the submission of the procurement administrator's decision. The procurement administrator shall notify the appellant in writing that the time for the issuance of the decision has been extended and the date by which the decision will be issued.

(r) *Appeals to Internal Services Director.* A protester wishing to appeal a decision of the procurement administrator shall file an appeal with the Internal Services Director no later than ten (10) business days from the date the procurement administrator decision is delivered by ELECTRONIC DELIVERY OR certified mail, return receipt requested to the protester/appellant. The appellant may request that the Internal Services Director or his designee hold a hearing on the appeal before a hearing panel. The Internal Services Director shall have the sole discretion to decide whether to hold a hearing before a hearing panel.

(s) *Dismissal before hearing.* The Internal Services Director or his designee shall dismiss, upon a written decision, an appeal before scheduling a hearing if:

- (1) The appeal does not state a valid basis for protest;
- (2) The appeal is filed in an untimely manner; or
- (3) The appeal attempts to raise issues not raised in the original protest.

(t) *Hearing.* The Internal Services Director may decide to allow a hearing on the appeal of the decision of the procurement administrator. The hearing shall be conducted by a panel consisting of the Internal Services Director or his designee, a representative from the city attorney's office and representatives from one or more city departments as determined appropriate by the city. The protester and the recommended or contract awarded firm(s) may be invited to attend the hearing. The decision made by a majority of the panel after the protest hearing shall be final. The panel shall issue a written decision no later than ten (10) business days after the conclusion of the panel hearing, unless the Internal Services Director agrees in writing to an extension of time.

(u) *Remedies.* If, after the hearing, the hearing panel sustains the appeal in whole or part and determines that a solicitation, proposed award or award does not comply with procurement

requirements and this chapter, remedies shall be implemented as appropriate and consistent with the law.

Section 18. That Chapter 26A, Article I, Section 26A-22, of the Tempe City Code is hereby amended to read as follows:

Sec. 26A-22. Resolution of contract claims and controversies.

(a) *Authority to resolve contract disputes.* The procurement officer administering the contract shall have the authority to settle and resolve contract disputes. Appeals from decisions of the procurement officer may be made to the procurement administrator as set forth below. The settlement or resolution of a dispute in excess of ten percent (10%) of the total contract award amount, up to ~~thirty~~ FIFTY thousand dollars (~~\$30,000~~) (\$50,000) requires the prior written approval of the procurement administrator. Settlement or resolution of those equal to or over ~~thirty~~ FIFTY thousand dollars (~~\$30,000~~) (\$50,000) requires the written approval of the Internal Services Director or his designee.

(b) *Procurement officer's decision.* If a dispute cannot be resolved by mutual agreement and a contractor submits a written request for a final decision, the procurement officer shall issue a written decision no later than sixty (60) calendar days after the request is filed. Before issuing a final decision, the procurement officer shall review the facts pertinent to the dispute and secure any necessary assistance from legal, fiscal and other advisors.

(c) *Final decision.* The procurement officer shall furnish a copy of the final decision to the contractor, by certified mail, return receipt requested or by any other method that provides evidence of receipt with a copy to the procurement administrator. The decision shall include:

- (1) A description of the dispute;
- (2) A reference to the pertinent contract provision;
- (3) A statement of the factual areas of agreement or disagreement;
- (4) A statement of the procurement officer's decision, with supporting rationale; and
- (5) A paragraph that substantially states that "this is the final decision of the procurement officer. This decision may be appealed to the procurement administrator. If you appeal, you must file a written notice of appeal with the Internal Services Director no later than thirty (30) calendar days from the date you receive this decision."

(d) *Issuance of a timely decision.* The procurement officer may extend the time limit for issuance of a final decision for disputes exceeding ~~thirty~~ FIFTY thousand dollars (~~\$30,000~~) (\$50,000) for a reasonable time not to exceed thirty (30) calendar days. The procurement officer shall notify the contractor in writing that the time for the issuance of a decision has been

extended and the date by which a decision shall be issued. The time limit for decisions may not be extended for disputes amounting to less than ~~thirty~~ FIFTY thousand dollars (~~\$30,000~~) (\$50,000). Unless the procurement officer extends the time limit, if the procurement officer fails to issue a decision within sixty (60) calendar days after the request on a dispute is filed, the contractor may proceed as if the procurement officer had issued an adverse decision.

(e) *Appeals to the procurement administrator.* An appeal from a final decision of a procurement officer, or the failure of the procurement officer to timely issue a decision on a dispute shall be filed with the procurement administrator no later than thirty (30) calendar days from the date the procurement officer's final decision is delivered to the contractor, return receipt requested. The appellant shall also file a copy of the appeal with the procurement officer. The appeal shall contain a copy of the decision of the procurement officer and the basis for the precise factual or legal error in the decision of the procurement officer from which an appeal is taken. The procurement administrator may assign the dispute to a hearing or to mediation services or to arbitration in accordance with this section and discussion with the city attorney. The procurement administrator shall notify the appellant of the decision to assign the dispute within fifteen (15) business days after the date an appeal is filed.

(f) *Controversies involving city claims against a contractor.* All contract claims asserted by the city against a contractor that are not resolved by mutual agreement shall promptly be referred by the procurement officer to the procurement administrator for a hearing, mediation or arbitration in accordance with this section and discussion with the city attorney.

(g) *Hearing.* Hearings on appeals of final decisions shall be conducted in accordance with § 26A-21.

(h) *Mediation.* Contract claims and controversies may be resolved utilizing mediation services if the Internal Services Director in consultation with the city attorney's office determines the use of such services is in the best interest of the city.

(i) *Arbitration.* Contract claims and controversies may be resolved utilizing arbitration if the Internal Services Director in consultation with the city attorney's office determines the use of arbitration is in the best interest of the city. The claim or controversies shall be settled by arbitration in accordance with current commercial arbitration rules of the American Arbitration Association or, at the option of the city, in accordance with the provisions of the Title 12, Chapter 9, Article I, Arizona Revised Statutes.

Section 19. That Chapter 26A, Article II, Section 26A-50, of the Tempe City Code is hereby amended to read as follows:

Sec. 26A-50. Materials management responsibilities and powers, auctions, offenses.

(a) The Internal Services Director or ~~his~~ designee shall be responsible for establishing guidelines for the administration of the materials management function, including the sale, trade, transfer or disposal of surplus materials belonging to the city.

(b) The Internal Services Director OR DESIGNEE shall have the responsibility and authority to establish rules and regulations to govern:

- (1) The management of materials during their entire life cycle;
- (2) The acquisition and distribution of city surplus or excess materials;
- (3) The sale, lease or disposal of surplus or excess materials by public auction, competitive sealed bidding, spot bidding, trade-in, negotiated sale, sale at posted prices, auction, trade or transfer, to another public entity, retail sales outlet, or other appropriate methods designated by city rules, regulations and procedures;
- (4) The purchase or acquisition of any surplus or excess materials by city employees or the disposal of surplus or excess materials by city departments;
- (5) The transfer of excess or surplus fixed asset materials for the purpose of reutilization within the city; and
- (6) Rules of attendance and participation at auctions, including expulsion and debarment from an auction or an auction call for bids. Such regulations shall also include procedures for immediate suspension or expulsion of an attendee or participant on grounds specified in the city's rules and regulations. A violation of such rules and regulations is punishable as provided in § 1-7 of the city code.

Section 20. That Chapter 26A, Article II, Section 26A-51, of the Tempe City Code is hereby amended to read as follows:

Sec. 26A-51. Disposition of surplus or excess materials generally.

(a) The Internal Services Director or ~~his~~ designee may act on behalf of the city in all matters pertaining to establishing rules, regulations and procedures for the disposition of excess or surplus materials.

(b) Unless otherwise authorized by law or city ordinances, rules or regulations, no using department shall transfer, sell, trade, or otherwise dispose of materials owned by the city without written authorization of the department head and the Internal Services Director or designee in accordance with the city's rules, regulations and procedures.

(c) A using department shall notify the Internal Services Director or ~~his~~ designee of all excess and surplus fixed asset materials on such forms and at such times as prescribed by established city rules, regulations and procedures. The Internal Services Director or ~~his~~ designee shall determine the fair market value of excess and surplus fixed asset materials.

Section 21. That Chapter 26A, Article II, Section 26A-52, of the Tempe City Code is hereby amended to read as follows:

Sec. 26A-52. Methods of disposal for surplus or excess MATERIALS.

(a) Surplus or excess materials may be offered for sale or lease through competitive sealed bidding, spot bidding, trade-in, sale at posted prices, auction, negotiated sale, or trade, to another public entity, retail sales outlet, or transferred for public purpose TO ANOTHER ARIZONA BASED PUBLIC ENTITY OR OTHERWISE as designated by city rules, regulations and procedures.

(b) Competitive sealed bidding shall be advertised and conducted in accordance with city ordinances, rules and regulations.

(1) Copies of the invitation for bid sales shall be available at the city procurement office. The notice for invitation for bid sales shall list the materials offered for sale, their location, availability for inspection, the terms and conditions of sale and instructions to bidders including the place, date, and time for bid opening. Bids shall be opened and read in public; and

(2) The award shall be made in accordance with the invitation for bid sales to the highest responsive and responsible bidder if the price offered by such bidder is acceptable to the Internal Services Director or his designee. If the Internal Services Director or his designee determines that the bid is not advantageous to the city, the bids may be rejected in whole or in part. The Internal Services Director may again solicit bids or may negotiate the sale if the negotiated sale price is higher than the highest responsive and responsible bidder's price.

(c) No employee of a disposing department shall directly or indirectly purchase or agree with another person to purchase surplus or excess materials if the employee is, or has been, directly or indirectly involved in the purchase, disposal, maintenance, operation or preparation for sale of the surplus or excess material. Sworn ~~police officers~~ PUBLIC SAFETY PERSONNEL are exempt from this requirement ~~solely for when they elect to purchase their duty gun as stipulated~~ FOR SPECIFIC EXCEPTIONS AS STIPULATED in subsection (e) below.

(d) No employee, nor agent or relative of an employee, of the city's ~~internal services department~~ FINANCIAL SERVICES DIVISION shall purchase or acquire, directly or indirectly, any city surplus or excess or scrap property.

(e) Sworn police officers may purchase their duty handgun for one dollar (\$1) upon retiring in good standing with twenty (20) or more years of service with the city. MEDICAL RETIREMENTS FOR OFFICERS WITH LESS THAN 20 YEARS OF SERVICE THAT RESULT FROM LINE OF DUTY PHYSICAL INCIDENTS MAY ALSO QUALIFY WITH THE APPROVAL OF THE POLICE CHIEF. SWORN POLICE OFFICERS AND FIRE FIGHTERS MAY BE AWARDED THEIR ASSIGNED SERVICE BADGES UPON RETIREMENT IN GOOD STANDING OR UPON THE UPGRADING OF BADGES AS DETERMINED BY THE RESPECTIVE CHIEFS. SWORN POLICE OFFICERS AND FIRE FIGHTERS MAY BE AWARDED THEIR ASSIGNED FIRE FIGHTER HELMET OR

POLICE MOTOR OFFICER HELMET UPON RETIRING IN GOOD STANDING WITH THE CITY AT THE DISCRETION OF THE RESPECTIVE DEPARTMENT CHIEFS.

Section 22. Pursuant to the Tempe City Charter, Section 2.12, ordinances are effective thirty (30) days after adoption or at any later date specified therein.

PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPE, ARIZONA this _____ day of _____, 2016.

Mark W. Mitchell, Mayor

ATTEST:

Brigitta M. Kuiper, City Clerk

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Judith R. Baumann, City Attorney